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Introduction

The author was asked by Faber Maunsell, on behalf of their client, Scottish water, to carry out an archaeological desk-based assessment of areas to be affected by proposed water mains refurbishments at Thurso East in Caithness. The object of the evaluation was to identify known archaeological sites or areas of archaeological interest and predict the existence of archaeological features or deposits based on information in readily available archive sources, and to assess the potential impact of the present proposed work on the known or predicted archaeological record.

Where the evaluation concludes that the scheme will cause damage to known features or reveal unexamined deposits, recommendations will be given for the protection of these features and for further monitoring in the form of archaeological Watching Briefs. No field work has been carried out in connection with this assessment, and it may be considered necessary for a site visit to be carried out buy an archaeologist to further evaluate the area before work commences.

Any decisions on further evaluation of the area or mitigating measures will be made in consultation with the senior archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council.

Site Description.

The greater part of the present work is to take place within the Mountpleasant and Springpark housing schemes, two contiguous post-war housing developments on the east side of the Thurso River. The existing water pipes to be replaced run in pavements, and the work will be partly by pipe burst and partly by open cut. 

The water main continues north across open ground to the west of the drive to Thurso Castle, passes to the east of the castle to the yard of Thurso East Mains farm, terminating at the farm cottages. Most of the replacement along this section is proposed to be by pipe burst, which will involve excavation to gain access to the existing main only at certain points.

Data Sources

The following databases and other sources were consulted during this evaluation:

Highland Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council in Inverness

RCAHMS database ‘CANMORE’

1st edition Ordnance Survey map

‘The Buildings of Scotland: Highlands and Islands’ John Gifford 1992

‘Caithness: an Illustrated Architectural Guide’ Elizabeth Beaton 1996

Archaeological Sites

The following areas of potential archaeological interest in the vicinity of the proposed works have been identified during this assessment. The possible impact of the present scheme on these features is given in italics after each site description.

1. Thurso Castle at ND1244 6890, SMR no. ND16NW0009 The earliest recorded castle on this site dates to 1664, built for George, Earl of Caithness. The Ordnance Survey Name Book records: …built in 1664, repaired and enlarged in 1806 and 1835, and is at present undergoing extensive repairs which, when completed, will show none of the old building to the fore’. This refers to the present building, a baronial mansion built for Sir John Sinclair, third baronet of Ulbster, between 1872 and 1878, but largely demolished in 1952. There is considered to be no visible trace of the original 17th century building.
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Sweyn and Castlegreen Roads and area
‘Lined with pleasantly domestic timber-clad
houses dating from the 1950s, constructed in
pairs, each with small single-storey gable wing,
multi-pane glazing and some with dormers
breaking the wallhead. These homes line
gently winding streets creating a welcoming,
homely environment in marked contrast to the
gaunt, three-storey, ¢.1960 blocks of flats at
angle of Sweyn Road and Castlegreen Road.

Thurso: East
Local authority residential development,

expanding the town across the Thurso River in
the 1960s and 1970s. Queen’s Square and
Queen’s Terrace, Castletown Road are
enhanced with Caithness stone cladding and rich
brown local roof slates, in marked contrast to the
flatted blocks flanking the A9 near Millbank,

incongruous despite remodelling, 1995-6.

Thurso Castle, 1872-8, David Smith
Largely demolished in 1952 leaving a roofless
silhouette to dominate the skyline east of the
town, the skeletal ghost of the grandiose
castellated mansion built by Sir Tollemache
Sinclair. Its spiky Gothic grandeur is
replicated in the contemporary arched

RCAHMS

gateway and gatelodge, presun
work of David Smith.

Millbank
Long, ¢.1800 former flaxmill later
an engineering works and foundr;
associated two-storey range inclus
36 former Thurso Mill, now a youth
Unusual, tall, stepped west gable
mill in the landscape when viewec
riverside walks and Janet Street.

37 Harold’s Tower, 1780-90

This romantic folly — a landmark
eastern skyline of the town — was
Sir John Sinclair of Ulbster to cor
the Norse Earl Harold, killed in t
Clairdon in 1195 and buried here
field still called Chapel Field. The
hexagonal mausoleum has angles
by crude pencil turrets and an in:
bearing the legend This is the bui
the Sinclairs of Ulbster. The mau
superseded the family vault at U
(see p.23).
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                                              1. Thurso Castle in 1830
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The illustration is from Jones’ ‘Views of Scotch Seats’ c. 1830, which shows the castle between its second and third refurbishment. The view is from the east, and shows a high-walled courtyard with a central bell-towered gateway and a walled drive to a second, outer set of gates. A low wall runs N-S. Although it is impossible to estimate the scale of the structures from this illustration, the low wall is likely to follow the top of the raised beach, as does an existing field boundary, and this would place the courtyard and entrances no further east than the rectangular area containing the circular drive as indicated on the modern map.

2. Thurso Castle in 1878 form, before demolition, view from North

The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map records the castle and associated features after the final, 1872-8 refurbishment. By this date, the farm buildings have all been constructed north of the castle. Immediately north of the entrance drive is a bowling green, and north of this is a walled garden, divided into rectangular beds. East of the buildings, the 1st edition shows the artificial mound by the driveway. At this date (1870s) the mound is topped by a flagpole; it is unclear whether the Ulbster stone is there as well. It would appear that the 1872 building was accompanied by extensive landscape gardening, the series of  ‘steps’ down to the castle from this mound are probably part of this landscaping, as the 1830 illustration indicates only a natural landscape outwith the gates

The water main does not appear, from the present information, to cross into the area of the original 17th century castle and its outworks. It does cross landscape and garden features dating to the late 19th century, as follows:

· Banked ‘step’ to the south of the driveway. To the north at this point the bank appears to have been already removed in the building of an access road to the farm.

· Bowling green and surrounding walls. It is not possible without a site visit to ascertain whether this green or associated features survive.

It is recommended that these features be avoided when sites are chosen for excavation for pipe bursting. If this is not possible, further archaeological monitoring would be advisable.

2. The Ulbster Stone, at ND 1255 6847, SMR no. ND16NW0013 This Class 11 cross slab was removed from its original location in the church of St Martin at Ulbster and placed on the artificial mound in the castle grounds (see above) The date of its arrival is unrecorded, but the second edition OS map does record it as ‘standing stone’, suggesting its arrival some time between the two surveys. At a date between 1910 and 1956, it was removed, and now stands in the entrance to Thurso Museum

This feature, ie. The artificial mound, will not be affected as it lies at a sufficient distance from the works
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3.The Lodge at ND 1246 6857, SMR no. ND16NW0116 Listed ‘B’ gateway and lodge contemporary with the 1872 castle refurbishment, and presumed to be by the same architect.

                                      3. Lodge and Gates, Thurso Castle, in present state

This feature will be unaffected as it lies at a sufficient distance from the works.

3. Thurso East Mains at ND 1251 6900, SMR no. ND16NW0198. The several buildings recorded on the 1st edition OS map, soon after their construction, are still standing. 

The water main runs through the farmyard but does not adversely affect the farm buildings. There is no suggestion that an earlier layout of buildings stood on this site, so it is not considered that any archaeological features will be affected.

4. Thurso East Military Camp , centred on ND 1240 6870 and ND 1260 6875, NMRS no. ND16NW 367. Aerial photographs of 1946 indicate an extensive Second World War military camp in the grounds to the SW of the castle, consisting of up to 70 Nissen huts in two groups and other structures. None of these structures appear to be recorded on modern maps, and it is presumed that the camp was demolished.

As this camp was demolished and as much material as possible presumably removed, this does not really survive as a site of historical or archaeological interest. Any information on the layout or function of the camp can presumably be obtained from aerial photographs and archive material, and it is not considered that any archaeological monitoring would be fruitful. Any excavation over this area is likely to reveal a scatter of material such as concrete, brick and metal debris, which would not be considered to be of archaeological interest. It is possible that local military historians would be interested in chance finds, so it would probably be a courtesy to inform the local museum or historical society before excavation work is carried out.

Mountpleasant and Springpark Housing Estates.

No archaeological features have been recorded in the area covered by the two estates. There was a small settlement or farm named Mountpleasant, recorded on John Thomson’s map of 1832. This is most likely to be the same as the existing Mountpleasant Farm, to the east of the estate. The 1st edition Ordnance survey map indicates only fields in this area. The likelihood of archaeological deposits being present in this area is low.
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